IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

DAVID M. KING,
Plaintiff,

Y8,

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF CASE NO:

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

and HENRY BARNET, individually

and in his capacity as an employee of the

State of Florida, Department of Environmental
Protection and GREGORY GIBSON, individually
and in his capacity as an employee of the

State of Florida, Department of Environmental
Protection and, PINKY G. HALL, individually
and in her capacity as an employee of the

State of Florida, Department of Environmental
Protection and ROY C. DICKEY, individually
and in his capacity as an employee of the

State of Florida, Department of Environmental
Protection and, AMY M. SCHMIDT, individually
and in her capacity as an employee of the

State of Florida, Department of Environmental
Protection,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT
Plaintiff, DAVID M. KING, hereby sues the FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, HENRY BARNET, individually, GREGORY
GIBSON, individually, PINKY G. HALL, individually, ROY C. DICKEY, individually,

and AMY M. SCHMIDT, individually, and alleges:



JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This is an action brought forth under Florida Statutes § 112.3187 and
§ 768.28, as well as under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for claims which are, individually, valued in
excess of Seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000.00), exclusive of costs, interest and
attorneys fees.

2. Plaintiff’s claims for relief are predicated, in part upon 42 U.8.C. §1983,
which authorizes actions to redress the deprivation, under color of state law, of rights,
privileges, and immunities secured to the Plaintiff by the Constitution and laws of the
United States, and by 42 U.S.C. § 1988 which authorizes the award of attorney’s fees and
costs to prevailing plaintiffs in actions brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.

3. The State Law Claims are brought under § 112.3187(8)(a), Fla. Stat.,

§ 768.28, Fla. Stat., as well as Florida Common Law.

4. A written notice of Plaintiff’s state law claims asserted herein, was
submitted to Defendant and to the Florida Department of Financial Services, via certified
mail, on or about January 29, 2008, pursuant to § 768.28(6), Florida Statutes. No
response was received by Plaintiffs, therefore they are deemed denied by operation of
law. A copy of the certified letter returns is attached as Exhibit A.

5. Plaintiff has met all conditions precedent to filing this action.

has filed a charge of discrimination and retaliation with the Florida Commission on
Human Relations (FCHR) in late 2007, and had obtained a right to sue letter from the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission on October 4, 2008, a copy of which is

attached as Exhibit A.



PARTIES

6. Plaintiff, DAVID M. KING, is a resident of Bay County, Florida. The
incidents described herein occurred in Leon County, Florida.

7. At all times pertinent hereto, Defendant, FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, (hereinafter “FDEP”) has been organized and
existing under the laws of the State of Florida. At all times pertinent to this action,
Defendant has been an "employer” as that term is used under the applicable laws
identified above.

8. Defendant, HENRY BARNET (hereinafter “Barnet™) at all times
pertinent to this action resided in or near Leon County, Florida. He was the Director for
FDEP’s Division of Law Enforcement at the Leon County, Florida Headquarters at all
times pertinent to this action.

9. Defendant, GREGORY GIBSON (hereinafter “Gibson™) at all times
pertinent to this action restded in or near Leon County, Florida. He was the Assistant
Bureau Chief above Plaintiff or the Assistant Director for FDEP’s Division of Law
Enforcement at the Leon County, Florida Headquarters at all times pertinent to this
action.

10. Defendant, PINKY HALL (hereinafter “Hall’} at all tirmes pertinent to
this action resided in or near Leon County, Florida. She was the Inspector General for the

FDEP at the Leon County, Florida headquarters at all times pertinent to this action.



11. Defendant, ROY DICKEY (hereinafter “Dickey”) at all times pertinent
to this action resided in or near Leon County, Florida. He was the Investigator directly
under Defendant Hall at FDEP’s Office of the Inspector General at the Leon County,
Florida headquarters at all times pertinent to this action.

12. Defendant, AMY SCHMIDT (hereinafter “Schmidt™) at all times
pertinent to this action resided in or near Leon County, Florida. She was the Investigator
directly under Defendant Dickey at FDEP’s Office of the Inspector General at the Leon
County, Florida headquarters at all times pertinent to this action.

I. PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINTS

13. Plaintiff was originally employed with Defendant on March 1, 1982. In
2007, Plaintiff was a Captain in the Division of Law Enforcement at FDEP. He was the
victim of adverse actions after he reported and/or objected to actual and/or suspected
violations of laws, gross malfeasance, misfeasance and/or gross misconduct by employees
and/or agents of Defendant.

14.  In 2006, Plaintiff objected to certain practices by his Bureau Chief,
Elwood Stephens, and Assistant Bureau Chief, Gregory Gibson (now Assistant Director).

In 2006, Plaintiff objected directly to Stephens placing of a phone call to the Tallahassee
Regional Communications Center (TRCC) to report a false crime in order to test and see
if one of Plaintiff’s subordinate employees, Lieutenant Perry Joyner, had his radio on.
See Exhibit B. In 2006, Plaintiff also objected to the hiring of William Stokley as a

reserve office because of an unfavorable background investigation. See Exhibit C.



15.  Plaintiff would have been required to report both of these actions,
according to FDEP’s directive 290, section 5 (b) and (d), of which have been relied on for
the termination and dismissal of other employees, including whistle-blower complaints
and violations of chain-of command.

16.  Plaintiff’s subordinate employee, then Corporal Mike Shoaf, was
instructed to conduct a background investigation of Stokley. The result showed that
Stokley had been denied employment with the Florida Highway Patrol (FHP) dueto a
failed polygraph, and that the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT), and the
Florida Fish and Wildlife Commission (FWC) had chosen not to hire him because of the
failed polygraph and/or other reasons relating to his background. See Exhibit D, Florida
Department of Corrections investigation into the envelopes, Investigative Report re:
Stokley; Exhibit E, Transcription of Taped Interview of Corporal Mike Shoaf.

17. Corporal Mike Shoaf was told to sign the investigation and send it up to
headquarters, thus concluding the investigation. See Exhibit F, PERC Transcripts,
Volume I, Testimony of William Walls (pg. 18) and, Volume 1I, Testimony of Michael
Shoaf (pg. 172).

18.  Then Assistant Bureau Chief, Gregory Gibson, was friends with Stokley
and wanted him to be hired. Once he learned of Plaintiff’s objections, he placed a phone
call to Lieutenant Perry Joyner (Plaintiff’s subordinate) and told him to re-interview
Stokley and added that he knew Lt. Joyner would “do the right thing”. See Exhibit F,

PERC Transcripts, Volume 11, Testimony of Perry Joyner (pg. 181).



19.  Joyner testified at the Plaintiff’s PERC hearing that he was intimidated by
this call because the chain-of-command was bypassed due to Plaintiff’s objections. In
addition he had a previous lawsuit involving Gregory Gibson, and felt threatened. See
Exhibit F, PERC Transcripts, Volume II, Testimony of Perry Joyner (pg. 181). See
Exhibit G, Memorandum to Plaintiff from Perry Joyner dated January 16, 2007.

20.  Many people had reservations about the hiring of Stokley, including
Captain Billy Walls, Captain David King, Lieutenant Perry Joyner, and Corporal Mike
Shoaf, and this was known to the‘Defendants’. See Exhibit F, PERC Transcripts,
Volume I, Testimony of William Walls (pg. 18),; Volume II, Testimony of Michael A. Shoaf
(pg. 172), Testimony of Perry Joyner (pg. 181), Testimony of David King (pg. 247).

21. Plaintiff was ordered to give Joyner a reprimand for not having his radio on
during the false report of a crime alleged in paragraph 15. Plaintiff repeatedly objected to
this. However, as Plaintiff was giving Joyner this reprimand, he received a phone call
from Stephens who told him to pull the reprimand back and come to Tallahassee to “clear
the air”. Plaintiff had complained to so many people both inside the agency and outside
about the actions taken by Stephens in placing that phone call that Stephens became
aware of Plaintiff’s complaint.

22.  Plaintiff had complained about this outside of his employ with Defendant,
including calling David Tripp with the Florida Highway Patrol to complain about the
phone call made by Stephens to the TRCC to check on Joyner. Plaintiff also consulted
with then Investigator Percy Griffin with the FDEP Inspector General’s office about filing

an anonymous complaint, for fear of being fired if it was known it was him. Plaintiff was



attempting to make public his belief that a bureau chief at FDEP had broken the law to
punish an employee, Joyner. See Exhibit F, PERC Transcripts, Volume II, Transcripts
of Percy Griffin (pg. 243); Testimony of David King (pg. 247).

II. THE NOVEMBER 3, 2006 MEETING

23.  Plaintiff then met with Stephens, Gibson, and Senior Attorney for the
Department, Tracy Hartman on November 1, 2006.

24. At that meeting Plaintiff was questioned about his reluctance to Stokley’s
hire, his objections to giving Joyner a reprimand, and whether or not he had been telling
employees and others that he had an “in” with Governor Crist’s campaign and was
promising others jobs should he be promoted. Plaintiff would have no investigation into
this allegation until after he was terminated and had his termination reversed by the
Public Employees Relations Commission. See Exhibit F, PERC Transcripts, Volume I,
Testimony of Elwood Stephens ( pg. 62); Volume II, Testimony of Gregory L. Gibson (pg.
134), Testimony of David King, (pg. 247). See Exhibit H, Gregory Gibson's notes from
the November I*, 2006 meeting, and Affidavits to the Florida Commission on Human
Relations from Gregory Gibson, Tracey Hartman, and Elwood Stephens.

25.  Plaintiff was specifically questioned about his dislike of Stokiey’s
background investigation in front of Gibson, who knew that Plaintiff was aware that he
was friends with Stokley and wanted him hired.

26. Plaintiff was told to correct his behavior and not complain about Stephens

call to the Tallahassee Regional Communications Center to report a false crime, or



Gibson’s intimidation of subordinate employees and violation of the chain-of-command
to secure his high school friend, Stokley’s, hire.

27. Dlaintiff was so concerned from the tone of that meeting that he emailed
Dickey with the Inspector General’s office a few days later and asked for whistleblower
protection. See Exhibit I
III. THE ENVELOPE INVESTIGATION

28.  Later Plaintiff received word that envelopes containing the partial
background investigation of Stokley had been mailed to the Florida Department of Law
Enforcement (FDLE) and to the Florida Department of Corrections (FDOC), where
Stokely then worked, along with another partially incomplete background investigation
done also by Mike Shoaf on Alicia Cowan.

29. Plaintiff notified his superior officer, Stephens, and FDOC launched an
investigation. See Exhibit J.

30.  FDOC interviewed Shoaf regarding the investigation into who mailed the
envelopes. See Exhibit E, Transcription of Taped Interview of Corporal Mike Shoaf.
However, FDOC later downgraded and closed the investigation with no findings. See
Exhibir K.

31.  Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff later was placed under investigation for the
mailing of the envelopes. Part of the basis for the suspicion, not known until later when
the investigation was sustained was that Plaintiff lived in Bay County, Florida where the
envelopes were postmarked, and that he had a history of complaining outside of the

agency about issues involving law enforcement violations. Plaintiff had a history of



complaining outside of the agency with a desire to inspire the public and government to
change the way law enforcement operated. On January 19, 2007, he was interrogated,
placed on administrative leave with pay, and his state property was taken from him. See
Exhibit L (a), letter and notice given to Plaintiff on January 19, 2007, and Exhibit L (b)
Investigation by Tallahassee Police Department, including copies of the two envelopes
(last two pages), and the two incomplete background investigations mailed anonymously
on Stokley and Cowan).

32. The Office of Inspector General (OIG) at FDEP started an investigation
into Plaintiff. Dickey led the investigation and was assisted by Schmidt. Both were
present at Plaintiff’s interrogation on January 19, 2007.

33. Plaintiff filed Internal Affairs Investigations for all of the violations that he
had complained of previously in emails or in person. Major Roy Dickey investigated
them. See Exhibit M.

34. One investigation filed by Plaintiff dealt with the fact that Gibson was
involved in the hiring process of his high-school friend, Stokely. Dickey led the
investigation.

35. During the investigation, Dickey only interviewed Gibson and took
statements from him indicating that Gibson had no desire to become involved in
Stokley’s hiring process, and wanted to remain distant to avoid the appearance of
“impropriety”.

36.  Plaintiff alleged that Gibson bypassed the chain of command and was

deliberately involved in Stokley’s hiring process by contacting Joyner and Shoaf.



37.  Dickey only interviewed Gibson. At the PERC hearing; however, it
became clear that Joyner and Shoaf were essential witnesses to be interviewed regarding
the allegations.

38.  Plaintiff wanted Dickey questioned at the PERC hearing about the
investigation into his complaints, although they had no bearing on the issue before PERC,
namely whether Plaintiff mailed the envelopes with Stokley’s background information to
FDLE and FDOC. His desire to have this questioning and the investigations come in was
to place it all on public record to show how the investigations were being conducted by
the OIG at FDEP.

39.  Although Gibson maintained he staying away from the Stokley hiring
process, it is clear that he was very much involved. See Exhibit F, PERC Transcripts,
Volume I, Testimony of William Walls (pg. 18), Testimony of Roy C. Dickey (pg. 89);
Volume 11, Testimony of Michael A. Shoaf (pg. 172); Testimony of Perry Joyner (pg.

181); Testimony of David King (pg. 247).

40.  Plaintiff was confident that Gibson became aware of Plaintiff’s objections
to Stokley’s hire prior to and most obvious during the November 1, 2006 meeting, and
that is why he took the actions he did to ensure Stokley’s hire.

41. Plaintiff filed numerous complaints with the Florida Commission on
Human Relations after this time, including one alleging retaliation and / or whistleblower

violations for complaining about Stephens phone call to the TRCC.
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42. At Plaintiff’s interrogation on January 19, 2007, he was represented by
counsel. Later, Counsel for Plaintiff asked that Major Roy Dickey have the envelopes
tested for DNA and / or fingerprints.

43.  Plaintiff was told that the envelopes had been taken to the Tallahassee
Police Department, where Dickey, Schmidt, and Gibson had all previously worked.

44,  Ron McNeil, known to Dickey, was asked to look at the envelopes and
provided with few samples of Plaintiff’s handwriting. No other employees handwriting
was submitted to Mr. McNeil for analysis. Mr. McNeil is not a certified document
examiner. See Exhibit F, PERC Transcripts, Volume I, Testimony of Roy Dickey (pg.
89), Volume I, Testimony of Ronald McNeil (pg. 147).

45.  Co-Counsel for Plaintiff at the time, Mr. Don Pumphrey, asked Plaintiff to
take a polygraph examination with Mr. Ray Fredericks. Plaintiff agreed and was
administered a polygraph examination which he passed. See Exhibit N. The Agency was
notified about the polygraph examination, and was told again at Plaintiff’s
predetermination conference.

46.  Prior to Plaintiff’s termination, another DEP employee, David
VanBlairicom was approached and told to apply for Plaintiff’s position because Plaintiff
would not be coming back. See Exhibit 0. Plaintiff was terminated on May 31, 2007.

47.  After his termination, Gibson, who had continued to retaliate and harass
Plaintiff ever since his objections to the hiring of Stokley, prepared a termination letter
and emailed it out to the entire FDEP Division of Law Enforcement. He sent the email to

Barnett for approval first and the only change Barnett made was to remove the attached
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termination letter addressed to Plaintiff that Gibson had attached to the email. See
Exhibit P.
IV. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RELATIONS COMMISSION

48. Plaintiff appealed to PERC and won his appeal. See Exhibit Q.

49. Plaintiff was completely disillusioned by the hostile working environment
that he found himself in; the fact that FDEP had failed to investigate his allegations of a
criminal offense on the part of Stephens, as well as Stokley’s hire which was against the
Criminal Justice and Training Commission Standards, and filed his appeal to PERC in
order to make public record out of the fact that FDEP was engaged in wrongdoing and
attempting to silence his complaints.

50. Prior to PERC and continuing after he won his appeal, Plaintiff had
contacted the local media, the Governor, and his representatives in order to bring to light
the matters he testified to at PERC. See Exhibit R, Email between Counsel for Plaintiff
and Bill Cotterell of the Tallahassee Democrat after Plaintiff contacted Mr. Cotterell, to
which counsel responded on behalf of Plaintiff, showing Mr. Cotterell’s knowledge of
who all Plaintiff had complained to. As discussed by Mr. Cotterell, Plaintiff had
previously filed a grievance against Michael Horvath, an employee at DEP for sending
pornographic emails over state computers. Mr. Horvath only received a reprimand at that
time. However, in a case similar to the one at bar, upon facing a Motion to Dismiss in the
Thomas White v. DEP, et. al case, Counsel for Mr. White discussed this in his response
and attached the pornographic email. After that hearing, Mr. Horvath was either

terminated or resigned although he had only received a reprimand for this action over a
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year prior. The Judge did not dismiss the Counts. See Exhibit S, Response to Motion for
Attorney’s Fees in the case of Thomas White v. DEP. See Exhibit T, one of the Emails
from Michael Horvath resulting in the reprimand.  See Exhibit U, Additional Emails
from Plaintiff to others outside the agency, such as the Governor of Florida, and Emails
from Plaintiff’s Counsel, at Plaintiff’s request to members of other agency’s to bring to
light problems within FDEP.

51. At PERC, Plaintiff testified about how Stokley and Cowan’s hiring was
done against the policy of not only the agency but law Enforcement standards; how his
superior officer violated the law by calling in a false crime to the TRCC, and about a
political meeting he allegedly had with Tom Wheeler who had told both he and Joyner
that should Governor Christ become elected they would receive high positions at FDEP.
This was a source of some concern by FDEP, and Joyner, prior to Plaintiff’s dismissal
was placed under investigation for this, among other things. See Exhibit H, Gregory
Gibson’s notes from the November 1%, 2006 meeting, and Affidavits to the F lorida
Commission on Human Relations from Gregory Gibson, Tracey Hartman, and Elwood
Stephens.

52. At PERC, the issue to be resolved was whether or not Plaintiff mailed the
envelopes; however, he insisted on testifying about these other matters because he knew
it would become public record. In fact, he insisted on taking the PERC transcripts to the
Governor’s IG’s office and both he and undersigned counsel met with Dawn Case and
turned them over to her and James Knight who was assisting her in the investigation. See

Exhibit V, Email to James Knight dated September 14, 2007 indicating he had possession
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of the PERC transcripts prior to that date (although Mr. Knight mentions the Final
Order, the Final Order was not issued until September 13, 2007 after the meeting).

53. Regarding the envelopes, Plaintiff retained a certified document examiner
who opined that the handwriting was not that of Plaintiff. See Exhibit F, PERC
Transcripts, Volume I, Testimony of Richard Orsini (pg. 194). See Exhibit W,
Curriculum Vitae and Biography of Richard Orsini. The PERC Hearing Officer wrote in
his recommended order that the writing appeared as if someone had done it to make it
look like Plaintiffs, stating, “Instead, it is more likely that someone added the curlicues to
make the letters look like King’s handwriting”. See Exhibit Q, Hearing Officer’s
Recommended Order, 4 19, pg. 12, last paragraph). This handwriting examiner, unlike
Ron McNeil who did the first analysis for Defendants and was not a certified handwriting
examiner, had samples of other writing to compare Plaintiff’s writing to. See Exhibit F,
PERC Transcripts, Volume I, Testimony of Richard Orsini (pg. 194).

54. FDEP was ordered to reinstate Plaintiff. Plaintiff contacted FDEP
numerous times about when he could be reinstated but received no response. See Exhibit
X
V. FIRST INVESTIGATION AND THE “NEW?” POST-PERC INVESTIGATION

55.  Plaintiff learned after the PERC Hearing Officers Recommended Order
was issued, that Barnett and Gibson had held a meeting with the Northwest District
officers and told them that “David King was coming back to the district”. See Exhibit Y.

This was only days from the PERC hearing officer’s recommended order. See Exhibit (.
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56. Immediately, Captain Amy Schmidt with the Office of the Inspector
General at FDEP started to gather evidence against Plaintiff. See Exhibit Z. One such
contact was an email to former employee David VanBlairicom through Captain Percy
Griffin with the Inspector General’s Office for him to contact her. The email was dated
August 20, 2007, less than two weeks after the PERC Recommended Order. See Exhibit
Q. VanBlairicom was asked to write an affidavit stating that he had seen Plaintiff
working in Wal-Mart in Panama City while he was on administrative leave with pay from
FDEP during his investigation. VanBlairicom was told by Captain Amy Schmidt that
Plaintiff was being investigated for Grand Theft for working two jobs and not reporting it.

See Exhibit AA, Emails and Affidavit.

57. Both of these events took place after Plaintiff testified and received the
favorable recommended order from the Hearing Officer at PERC.

58. FDEP decided they would only reinstate Plaintiff under the terms of placing
him under a new investigation for charges that should have been investigated prior to his
termination. Undersigned Counsel received word of this from a former employee and
emailed FDEP inquiring about an investigation. See Exhibit BB. Two days later, Captain
Percy Griffin came to undersigned counsel’s office with two letters for Plaintiff, one
advising of his reinstatement based on the PERC decision, and one placing him under
investigation. See Exhibit CC.

59.  The new investigation contained many allegations including, sexual and
racial harassment, among other things. See Exhibit DD. However, the sexual and racial

harassment charges were elicited from Gibson by Schmidt based on allegations that

15



Plaintiff made such comments as “well girl” and “chocolate chip” referring to a FDEP
employee, Officer Michelle Dupree. This was alleged to have occurred in 2006. This
was noted in a memo from Schmidt to the case file on September 20, 2007 after the
PERC ruling and FDEP’s threat of a grand theft charge regarding Plaintiff. See EE. One
year prior, Gibson had a meeting with Plaintiff regarding the employee that Plaintiff
allegedly sexually and racially harassed, Officer Dupree. Gibson discussed with Plaintiff
that Officer Dupree had a history of filing false complaints and engaging in “rumor
mongering”. Gibson instructed Plaintiff to have Joyner counsel Officer Dupree about the
“unacceptability of her rumor mongering” and “such conduct serves no constructive
purpose as is a violation of DEP Directives”. Gibson told Plaintiff to have Joyner
document the conversation with Officer Dupree so he could confirm the dates and
content. Gibson on September 7, 2006 documented this in a memorandum to the file.
See Exhibit FF. This was alleged to have occurred before the envelope investigation on
January 19, 2007, as Schmidt states in her memo on September 20, 2007. Schmidt wrote
that Gibson overheard these comments during a training course in October 2006.
However, Gibson, a supervisory law enforcement officer, did not report that to Schmidt,
according to this memo, and no action was taken until September 2007, after the
Plaintiff’s envelope investigation and success at PERC. Additionally, in between the year
the two memos were written Plaintiff had objected to and filed a complaint against
Gibson for involving himself in the hiring of his high school friend, Stokley, as alleged in
paragraphs 25 and 26, and was accused of mailing Stokley’s background investigation to

FDLE and FDOC. Plaintiff was questioned about numerous issues by Gibson in a
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meeting on November 1, 2006, and although the incident with Officer Dupree was
alleged to have been overheard by Gibson in October of 2006, one month prior, there is
no record that it was discussed or mentioned at the meeting or reported by Gibson to the
Inspector General’s Office. See Exhibit H, Gregory Gibson’s notes from the November
1" 2006 meeting, and Affidavits to the Florida Commission on Human Relations from
Gregory Gibson, Tracey Hartman, and Elwood Stephens.

60.  Additionally, Plaintiff was accused of promising people jobs during an
election campaign during 2006. This was an issue that was brought up in the November
1, 2006 meeting referenced above and was before he was placed under investigation for
the envelopes and put on leave on January 19, 2007. Plaintiff was not investigated of any
of these charges that allegedly occurred prior to the first investigation. See Exhibit F,
PERC Transcripts, Volume I, Testimony of Elwood Stephens ( pg. 62); Volume II,
Testimony of Gregory L. Gibson (pg. 134), Testimony of David King, (pg. 247). See
Exhibit H, Gregory Gibson's notes from the November 1%, 2006 meering, and Affidavits
to the Florida Commission on Human Relations from Gregory Gibson, Tracey Hartman,
and Elwood Stephens. However, one day prior to his effective termination date for the
envelope violation in May of 2007, Plaintiff and undersigned counsel were contacted
about a new violation that Plaintiff had committed on his time sheets because he wrote on
them that he was under administrative leave for a fraudulent investigation referring to the
envelopes. FDEP wanted Plaintiff interrogated about this claiming it was an

investigation. However, Plaintiff was in the hospital with blood clots and was not
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available for questioning. The issue was not revisited and Plaintiff was later terminated
for mailing envelopes on May 31, 2007.

61. At the time of the attempted reinstatement in September of 2007, Plaintiff
was being threatened with a criminal investigation for working part time at Wal-Mart
while on administrative leave with pay during his first investigation, and not asking for
permission from the agency. He was told the agency was looking into civil theft charges,
and decided because of their retaliatory actions they would send him to jail before they
would accept his reinstatement to his position. Therefore, he decided to give up his
privilege to employment that he had won from PERC under the threat of a criminal
sanction, and because of the hostile working environment, decided things would be so
bad for him under the guise of these threats that he could not accept reinstatement.
Undersigned Counsel inquired of FDEP why “grand theft” was being listed as one of his
charges that was sustained. See Exhibit GG. This was in regards to the new investigation
after the PERC ruling.

62.  While Plaintiff was under investigation for mailing the envelopes in the
beginning of 2007 and prior to his PERC appeal, Plaintiff’s subordinate employee,
Lieutenant Perry Joyner, was placed under investigation in March of 2007. During the
interviews of witnesses and complainants, each was asked numerous times, “Did Captain
King or Lieutenant Joyner....” even though the investigation was supposed to be regarding
Lieutenant Joyner. See Exhibit HH, Internal Investigation of Lieutenant Perry Joyner,

Transcripts of Testimony of Marty McClellan pg. 9 (lines 14-25), Transcripts of
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Testimony of Mitchell Golloher, pg. 14 (lines 2-4); Testimony of James Hughes, pg. 5
(lines 4-5). 1

63. During one interview, Officer Heath Nichols stated that Lieutenant Paul
Arkin had approached him regarding why Plaintiff was under investigation, in violation
of Florida Statute § 112.533 because this discussion was occurring while the investigation
was still ongoing and they were not privy to information about the envelopes, were not
witnesses, or counsel for the Plaintiff. Officer Nichols declined to talk about this. See
Exhibit HH, Internal Investigation of Lieutenant Perry Joyner, Transcripts of Testimony
of Heath Nichols, pg. 50 Lines 2-11)(when referring to “Paul” Nichols is referring to
Paul Arkin, and when referring to “captain” he is referring to Plaintiff, Captain David
King).

64. Counsel for Plaintiff emailed Inspector General Pinky Hall asking for an
investigation into why a lower-level employee would have that information because this
compromised the investigation. See Exhibit Il, Email to Inspector General Hall. In
addition, counsel for Plaintiff sent a public records request to the agency for information
into the meeting that took place after the PERC ruling wherein the district was told
Plaintiff would be coming back, and a request for information into why Arkin was talking
about Plaintiff’s investigation prior to its closure. The Agency attorney, Tracey Hartman,
emailed Arkin, Gibson and Barnet and stated “...I would remind you that the request only

extends to existing records.” (emphasis added). See Exhibit JJ. One of the people on

| The transcripts of the witnesses in the Investigation into Perry Joyner are over 554 pages in length.
Therefore, Plaintiff is filing as an exhibit a sample of some of the questions that was asked repeatedly of the
witnesses involving both Plaintiff and Joyner in the body of the question.
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that email was Arkin, who was the employee discussing Plaintiff’s investigation with
employees prior to it being closed in violation of § 112.532, and the one that took
Plaintiff’s position as Captain. Counsel for Plaintiff was unable to obtain any documents
other than the series of emails attached as Exhibit Y. However, it is standard operating
procedure that minutes are taken and kept at such meetings. Plaintiff has received no
such minutes, although witnesses have stated that the fact that Plaintiff would be coming
back to the district after his success at PERC was discussed, followed by a “new”
investigation into past accusations against Plaintiff.

65. No investigation was done to Plaintiff’s knowledge. Coincidentally,
Captain Paul Arkin who had the information about Plaintiff’s investigation and was
discussing it in violation of Florida Statutes, was promoted to Plaintiff’s job upon
Plaintiff leaving and was the most vocal about Plaintiff on the interview tapes during
Joyner’s investigation. Captain Arkin would talk negatively about Plaintiff during
Joyner’s investigation, which would later become an investigation into Plaintiff once he
was successful at PERC. Plaintiff’s job position was advertised only days before his
PERC hearing and over a month after he filed his PERC appeal. See Exhibit KK

66.  Joyner testified for Plaintiff at his PERC hearing and his own investigation
was sustained two days later. See Exhibit LL.

67.  Plaintiff’s presenting of testimony at PERC and emails to different
officials, attempted to show the misconduct of the Defendant with a desire to make public
all of the violations he suffered and FDEP’s decision to reinstate him only to place him

back under investigate him again.
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